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A trend is being spotted in the enforcement activity of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
(CFPB or Bureau). That is the vigorous cooperation as between the CFPB and other prudential bank
regulators working together to protect consumers. This trend gives new life to the old adage that two
is stronger than one, and a three (four or five for that matter) fold accord is not easily broken. The
trend also suggests a stronger and more fortified financial stability oversight body, one that no longer
looks at safety and soundness, and compliance with consumer financial laws as two separate silos.
But is this trend here to stay? Will the regulators seize this opportunity? Such collaboration is
unusual, and particularly challenging as between multiple agencies due to their respective mandates,
manpower, budgets, priorities and jurisdiction. But now armed with a mandate to cooperate in
supervisory activities, the prudential regulators and the CFPB can assist each other with spotting
areas of non-compliance that may have been overlooked or beyond reach in times past. This article
briefly explores this trend, its impact, and its staying power. 

Quick Overview of Power to Enforce & Supervise

Congress, in enacting Title X of the Dodd Frank and Consumer Protection Act (Title X), granted
the CFPB primary enforcement authority over large banks1 concerning Federal consumer financial
law.2 As such, a prudential regulator’s ability to enforce compliance with Federal consumer financial
law is limited to the “backup and enforcement procedures” described in Section 1025(c), Title X.3

Importantly, however, Title X did not usurp a prudential regulator’s (e.g. FDIC, OCC or Board of
Governors), power to impose a civil penalty against an insured depository institution or institution-
affiliated party for a violation of other laws or regulation.4 Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, (FTC Act), is one of those other laws.5

In addition to the enforcement authority, the CFPB was given exclusive supervisory authority to
require reports and conduct examinations for several purposes, including “assessing compliance with
the requirements of Federal consumer financial laws.”6 Significantly, the CFPB considers its
supervisory responsibility, in particular, its assessment of compliance management systems
employed by financial institutions one of its “most important responsibilities.”7 However, its grant of
power is not without checks and balances. Per Section 1025(c), Title X, and the facilitating
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Memorandum of Understanding on Supervisory Coordination, (MOU), dated May 2012, the CFPB
must coordinate with prudential regulators to avoid conflicts with regards to their supervisory
responsibilities. This includes coordination in examinations of covered institutions concerning covered
supervisory activity.8 Per the MOU, covered supervisory activity, includes, but is not limited to,
compliance with Federal consumer financial laws, Section 5 of the FTC Act and other Federal laws
that are not Federal consumer financial laws.9  At bottom, prudential regulators have supervisory
power to ensure compliance with the FTC Act, and other laws, and the CFPB has the power to
supervise and enforce UDAAP and all other Federal consumer financial laws, but as evidenced by
the MOU and as highlighted herein, there are clear points of convergence as between them. 

In addition to the above, the respective mandates of the CFPB and the prudential regulators also
differ. Generally, prudential regulators’ focus is the safety and soundness of the depository
institutions, whereas the CFPB is tasked with administering, implementing and enforcing Federal
consumer financial law. But note, while their respective mandates differ, they too converge at times
such as in the area of compliance management systems, and coordination on those points of
convergence, at least so far, appear effective.

How is this all going to play out in the days ahead?

If the recent Discover Bank10 and American Express11 enforcement actions, have taught us anything,
it is that the cohesive and coordinated activities are effective and in full swing. The result of which
appears to be higher penalty costs, with tighter board oversight and compliance mandates. But are
these cohesive and coordinated activities here to stay? Both the Discover Bank and American
Express actions started with investigations by the prudential regulators prior to the transfer of
consumer financial protection functions, per Section 1061, Title X.12  Whether the prudential
regulators remain as active in the CFPB’s enforcement actions in days ahead remains to be seen.
But one thing is clear, if effective over time, the collaboration will ultimately change the covered
industry. 

The Discover Bank Enforcement Action 

On September 24, 2012, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and the CFPB
announced their joint public enforcement action against Discover Bank, related to alleged deceptive
telemarketing and sales tactics in the sale of four credit card add-on products.13 The joint action
concluded with a Consent Order requiring Discover Bank to refund $200 million to 3.5 million
customers and to pay a civil penalty in the amount of $14 million. Concerning the civil monetary
penalty, $7 million will go to the U.S. Treasury, and $7 million will go to the CFPB’s Civil Penalty
Fund. The settlement also required Discover Bank to take certain corrective actions with respect to its
compliance management systems. Furthermore, the Consent Order expressly provides that Discover
Bank must pay the civil monetary penalty itself, and expressly prohibits any indemnification from a
third party. 

Interestingly, this action into the alleged deceptive practices first began with the FDIC as early as
2011, who then worked closely with the CFPB in the investigation. It also followed an action that was
first filed by the Minnesota Attorney General, who sued Discover Bank in December 2010, for actions
related to its telemarketing practices, (e.g., related to its service providers).14 In brief, the Minnesota
Attorney General action looked at practices from 2009 and claimed that Discover Bank and its
affiliated processing company made “aggressive, misleading and deceptive” telemarketing calls to
sign up people for products.15  In contrast, the FDIC’s and CFPB’s joint action covered a much
larger span of time, e.g., December 1, 2007 through August 31, 2011. The joint enforcement action
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also marked the second time the CFPB had worked closely with a prudential regulator to address
what it perceived as deceptive marketing of credit card add-on products, and the second time it
pursued enforcement related to service providers.16 The first, was the joint enforcement action
between CFPB and the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) against Capital One Bank,
(USA), N.A., (Capital One) which resulted in $210 million in restitution and civil monetary penalties,
which, as in the case of Discover Bank, cannot be paid by any other party.17  

The Discover Bank Consent Order18 states that the FDIC and the CFPB determined that Discover
Bank engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act and in violation
of Sections 1031 and 1036, Title 10. Of particular note is that the FDIC further determined that
Discover Bank had also engaged in unsafe or unsound banking practices.19 This determination of
unsafe and unsound practices hints of a convergence of interests as between the FDIC and the
CFPB. More than that, it is a clear sign to supervised entities that the FDIC will remain vigilant in
looking at these types of violations as part of its coordinated review of covered supervisory activities
in days ahead. Certainly for supervised entities, this suggests that the days of viewing safety and
soundness, and compliance with Federal consumer financial law, Section 5 of the FTC Act and the
like as two distinct compliance silos are gone.

This sign was echoed by Richard Cordray, Director of the CFPB, who stated at the time the
settlement was announced, “we are signaling as clearly as we can that other financial institutions
should review their marketing practices to ensure that they are not deceiving or misleading
consumers into purchasing financial products or services.”20 Covered persons have been taking note.
For instance, it has been reported that Bank of America has stopped offering certain products to new
customers, such as “Credit Protection Plus” and “Credit Protection Deluxe.”21  Further, Citigroup has
reportedly paused its telephone sales of payment-protection products while it reviews its sales
practices in light of the CFPB’s recent guidance on credit-card add on products,22 and J.P. Morgan
Chase reportedly stopped offering payment protection to new customers in October 2011.23

The American Express Enforcement Action

On October 1, 2012, the CFPB, the FDIC, the OCC, the Federal Reserve and the Utah Department
of Financial Services (UDFS), all issued press releases related to their own respective actions and
settlements with one or more American Express related entities.24 The respective settlements arose
from activities discovered by the FDIC and the UDFS during a routine exam of the American Express
subsidiary, American Express Centurion Bank.25  That examination resulted in an investigation, which
was transferred in part to the CFPB in 2011.26  Upon transfer of the investigation, the CFPB and
FDIC jointly pursued the matter.27

In addition to the above, the CFPB also pursued two other entities that it had jurisdiction over,
including American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., and American Express Bank
FSB. Overall, the CFPB’s investigations, which covered a span of time from 2003 - 2012, identified
violations of Federal consumer financial law covering a broad spectrum of customer contact,
including shopping for cards, applying for cards, payment of charges and paying off of debt.28

Concerning American Express Centurion Bank, the CFPB and FDIC jointly stated that they had
reason to believe that it “engaged in unsafe or unsound banking practices,” and violations of Section
5 of the FTC Act, Sections 1031 & 1036 of Title X, the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), as amended by
the Credit Card Act, Regulation Z, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and
Regulation B.29 This joint statement is a potent example of how the convergence of mandates, when
brought together in a cooperative effort can result in a substantial impact. Overall, the American
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Express entities will pay $27.5 million in civil monetary penalties and $85 million in restitution.
Undeniably, the joint Consent Order, and the multi-agency resolution was a coordinated effort, and
one that undoubtedly took tremendous effort. 

That is not the end of the story. The CFPB’s Consent Orders are chock full of information intended to
educate the covered industry, and for that reason a recommended read. Along those lines, several
key take-aways should be noted. First, the CFPB Consent Orders with American Express Centurion
Bank and American Express Bank, FSB, contain comprehensive compliance, management, internal
audit and Board oversight requirements. For instance, there are multiple reporting requirements and
directives to retain an independent management consultant, an independent auditor, and a
compliance program consultant, just to name a few. Consequently, covered entities should, if not yet
aware, familiarize themselves with the CFPB’s Supervision and Examination Manual which covers
its expectations regarding compliance management systems.30  In there the CFPB compares its
expectations to those of the Federal Reserve with regards to large banking organizations,31 and
clearly connects an effective compliance management system with effective compliance with Federal
consumer financial laws. This point was reiterated by the CFPB when it recently warned that,
“[W]ithout such a system, serious and systemic violations of Federal consumer financial law are likely
to occur.” This is another point of convergence as between the CFPB and prudential regulators, and
one wherein the covered industry should expect to see more activity in the days ahead. 

Further, as with the Capital One and Discover Bank enforcement actions, the CFPB again found
violations of Sections 1031 and 1036, of Title X, in relation to the actions of a service provider.32 
Specifically, the CFPB found that the American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc.,
acting as a service provider to its subsidiary banks, engaged in deceptive debt collection and
marketing practices.33  As part of its Consent Order American Express Travel Related Services
Company was required to make restitution and pay a civil monetary fine. Moreover, as with the
CFPB’s other Consent Orders, it may not seek or accept indemnification from a third party. 

Time Will Tell 

The American Express enforcement action was both the CFPB’s third enforcement settlement and
the third time it acted jointly with other prudential regulators. It was a multi-layered, multi-party,
comprehensive effort which all started from a routine exam by the federal and state prudential
regulators. The successful resolution and magnitude of the action could not have been accomplished
but for the collaborative and cooperative effort of the CFPB working together with the prudential
regulators and vice versa. But is this trend here to stay? A few clues in the Consent Orders, such as
the convergence of interests on multiple points combined with the broader reach of enforcement, and
impact from restitution, and civil monetary penalties strongly hints to the conclusion that “yes,” it is
here to stay. This conclusion is further supported by the MOU the CFPB entered into with the
prudential regulators in May 2012, long after the CFPB had taken over certain investigation
responsibilities in both the Discover Bank and American Express actions. But at the end of the day,
as the other adage goes…only time will tell if this new level of cooperation and corroboration is here to
stay. 

1 See Section 1025(c), and Section 1061, Title X. Prudential regulators maintain enforcement authority over small banks, e.g., banks under $10 billion in

deposits, per Section 1026, Title X.

2 See Sec. 1002(14), Title X. “Federal consumer financial law,” includes: 1) the provisions of Title X, such as Sec. 1031’s prohibition of unfair,

deceptive or abusive acts or practices (“UDAAP”); 2) the enumerated laws found at Sec. 1002(12), which include the Alternative Mortgage Transaction

Parity Act of 1982, the Consumer Leasing Act of 1976, the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Fair Credit Billing Act, the

                             4 / 10



 
Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Home Owners Protection Act of 1998, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, subsections (b) - (f) of section 43 of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Act, sections 502 - 509 of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act of 1975, the Home Ownership
and Equity Protection Act of 1994, the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974, the S.A.F.E. Mortgage Licensing Act of 2008, the Truth in
Lending Act, the Truth in Savings Act, section 626 of the Omnibus Appropriations Act, 2009, and the Interstate Land Sales Full Disclosure Act; 3) the
laws for which authorities are transferred under Subtitles F and H; and 4) any rule or order prescribed by the Bureau under Title X, enumerated
consumer law or authorities transferred under subtitles F & H. Federal consumer financial law does NOT include the Federal Trade Commission
Act. However, the CFPB does have a parallel power to stop unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices (UDAAP) found at Sections 1031 and 1036 of
Title X. Further, the CFPB, per Section 1061 of Title X, may enforce a rule prescribed by the FTC under the Federal Trade Commission Act, with

regards to an unfair or deceptive practice, to the extent such rule applies to a covered person or service provider as defined by Section 1002 of Title X.

3 See Sec. 1061(c)(2), Title X. 

4 See Section 8(i)(2) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act of 1933 as amended (12 U.S.C. 1818 (i)(2)). 

5 The FDIC and the OCC released guidance as early as 2002 on unfair or deceptive acts or practices. See OCC Advisory Letter 2002-3, March 22,

2002; and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, “Guidance on Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices,” FIL-57-2002, May 30, 2002. The prudential

regulators draw their power to enforce the FTC Act from the Federal Deposit Insurance Act of 1933, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1818(i)(2). 

6 See Section 1025(b), Title X.

7 See the CFPB’s Supervisory Highlights: Fall 2012, at p. 4, released on October 31, 2012, http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervisory-

highlights-fall-2012.pdf

8 See MOU at 4-8. 

9 See MOU at 4.

10 See In the Matter of DISCOVER BANK, GREENWOOD, DELAWARE, (Insured State NonMember Bank), Docket Nos. FDIC-11-548b; FDIC-11-551k

& 2012 CFPB-0005; Joint Consent Order, Order for Restitution, and Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty.

11 See In the Matter of: American Express Bank, FSB, Salt Lake City, Utah, 2012 CFPB-0003, Consent Order, Order for Restitution, and Order to Pay

Civil Money Penalty; In the Matter of American Express Bank, FSB, Salt Lake City, Utah, (Comptroller of the Currency), AA-EC-116, Consent Order; In

the Matter of American Express Bank, FSB, Salt Lake City, Utah, (Comptroller of the Currency), AA-EC-2012-117, Consent Order for a Civil Money

Penalty; In the Matter of American Express Travel Related Services Co., Inc., 2012-CFPB-0004, Consent Order, Order for Restitution and Order to Pay

Civil Money Penalty; In the Matter of American Express Company, New York, New York, and American Express Travel Related Services Co., Inc., New

York, New York, (Board of Governors) 12-066-B-HC, 12-066-CMP-HC, Consent Order and Order of Assessment of a Civil Money Penalty Issued Upon
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Consent Pursuant to the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as Amended; In the Matter of American Express Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah (Insured
State Nonmember Bank), Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Joint Consent Order, Joint Order for Restitution, and Joint Order to Pay Civil
Money Penalty, FDIC -12-315b, FDIC -12-316k, 2012-CFPB-0002; and In the Matter of American Express Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah
(Insured State Nonmember Bank), FDIC - 12-315b, FDIC -12-316k, and 2012 CFPB-0002, Joint Consent Order, Joint Order for Restitution, and Joint
Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty. 

12 See Press Releases: FDIC Announces Settlement with American Express Centurion Bank for Unfair and Deceptive Practices in Debt Collection and

Credit Card Marketing, October 1, 2012, http://www.fdic.gov/news/news/press/2012/pr12114.html; Press Releases, CFPB orders American Express to

pay $85 million refund to consumers harmed by illegal credit card practices, October 1, 2012, http://www.consumerfinance.gov/pressreleases/cfpb-

orders-american-express-to-pay-85-million-refund-to-consumers-harmed-by-illegal-credit-card-practices/; News Release, The Utah Department of

Financial Institutions Enters Into Consent Orders with American Express, October 1, 2012, http://www.dfi.utah.gov/NewsRelease.htm; Joint Release:

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and Consumer Financial
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Protection Bureau Order Discover to Pay $200 Million Consumer Refund for Deceptive Marketing, September 24, 2012,
http://www.fdic.gov/news/news/press/2012/pr12108.html. See also Prepared Remarks by Richard Cordray on the Press Call on FDIC and CFPB Joint
Enforcement Action, September 24, 2012, http://www.consumerfinance.gov/speeches/prepared-remarks-by-richard-cordray-on-the-press-call-on-fdic-
and-cfpb-jointenforcement-action/.

13 See Joint Release: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Order Discover to Pay $200 Million Consumer Refund for Deceptive Marketing, September 24, 2012,

http://www.fdic.gov/news/news/press/2012/pr12108.html. See also Prepared Remarks by Richard Cordray on the Press Call on FDIC and CFPB Joint

Enforcement Action, September 24, 2012, http://www.consumerfinance.gov/speeches/prepared-remarks-by-richard-cordray-on-the-press-call-on-fdic-

and-cfpb-jointenforcement-action/.

14 See Discover Faces FDIC Enforcement Claim Over Marketing Practices, Bloomberg, by Griffin, Donal, 9/29/2011; and Discover Financial Services

Investor Alert: Investigation over possible Wrongdoing, SBWire, posted May 7, 2012, http://sbwire.com/press-releases/discover-financial-services-

nysedfs-investor-alert-investigation-over-possible-wrongdoing-140962.htm. 

15 See Swanson Takes Stand Against Discover Card, Legal Newsline.com, December 8, 2010. 

                             7 / 10



 
16 See also Prepared Remarks by Richard Cordray on the Press Call on FDIC and CFPB Joint Enforcement Action, September 24, 2012,

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/speeches/prepared-remarks-by-richard-cordray-on-the-press-call-on-fdic-andcfpb-joint-enforcement-action/.

17 See GT Alert - Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's First Major Enforcement Action, and What the $210 Million Settlement Means for You.

18 See FN 10.

19 See FN 10.

20 See Prepared Remarks by Richard Cordray on the Press Call on FDIC and CFPB Joint Enforcement Action, September 24, 2012,

http://www.consumerfinance.gov/speeches/prepared-remarks-by-richard-cordray-on-the-press-call-on-fdic-and-cfpbjoint-enforcement-action/.

21 See Discover to Make Refunds to Settle Probe of Credit-Protection Products, WSJ, September 21, 2012, by Johnson, A.,and Tadena N.

22 See CFPB Bulletin 2012-06, regarding Marketing of Credit Card Add-on Products. See also GT Alert - Consumer Financial Protection Bureau's First

Major Enforcement Action, and What the $210 Million Settlement Means for You. 

23 FN 21.

24 See FNs 11 & 12. See also Federal Reserve Press Release, October 1, 2012,

http://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/press/enforcement/20121001a.htm; and OCC Assesses Civil Money Penalty Against American Express,

Orders $6 Million in Restitution, October 1, 2012, http://www.occ.gov/news-issuances/newsreleases/2012/nr-occ02012-137.html. 

The OCC entered into Consent Orders with American Express Bank, FSB, Salt Lake City Utah, which included a $500,000 civil monetary penalty and

$6 million in restitution. The Federal Reserve entered into a Consent Order with American Express Company, New York, New York and American

Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., New York, New York, which included a $9 million civil monetary penalty and required compliance, risk

management, and internal audit improvements. The Utah Department of Financial Services entered into Consent Orders with American Express

Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah, and American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., New York, New York, and American Express

Company, New York, New York, but did not assess civil monetary penalties or restitution. The FDIC jointly entered into Consent Orders with American
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Express Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah, which included a $3.9 million civil monetary penalty. The CFPB entered into Consent Orders with
American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., and American Express Bank FSB, and jointly with the FDIC entered into Consent Orders
with American Express Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah. The CFPB Consent Orders include $85 million in restitution and a $14.1 million in fines.

25 See FNs 12 & 24. 

26 Presumably, this transfer took place in accordance with Section 1061 of Title X. 

27 See FN 12. 

28 See Press Releases, CFPB orders American Express to pay $85 million refund to consumers harmed by illegal credit card practices, October 1,

2012, http://www.consumerfinance.gov/pressreleases/cfpb-orders-american-express-to-pay-85-million-refund-to-consumers-harmed-by-illegal-credit-

card-practices/.

29 In the Matter of American Express Centurion Bank, Salt Lake City, Utah (Insured State Nonmember Bank), FDIC - 12-315b, FDIC -12-316k, and

2012 CFPB-0002, Joint Consent Order, Joint Order for Restitution, and Joint Order to Pay Civil Money Penalty. 

30 See CFPB Supervision and Examination Manual, CMR, V.2-October 2012.

31 See Id. at CMR 1, fn 2.

32 The CFPB recently advised that it “considers oversight of service providers to be a key component of an effective CMS, and expects supervised

entities that retain or operate through service providers to have an effective process for managing the risks of those relationships to ensure compliance

with applicable Federal consumer financial law.” See the CFPB’s Supervisory Highlights: Fall 2012, at p. 5, released October 31, 2012,

http://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201210_cfpb_supervisory-highlights-fall-2012.pdf. 

33 See In the Matter of American Express Travel Related Services Co., Inc., 2012-CFPB-0004, Consent Order, Order for Restitution and Order to Pay

Civil Money Penalty.
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